IMPACT OF FERROPTOSIS INDUCTION ON IRON METABOLISM IN CANCER CELLS HARBORING TP53 MUTATIONS

By

LAURIE RENEE THOMPSON

Bachelor of Science in Nutritional Sciences

Oklahoma State University

Stillwater, OK

2018

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE December, 2020

IMPACT OF FERROPTOSIS INDUCTION ON IRON METABOLISM IN CANCER CELLS HARBORING TP53 MUTATIONS

Thesis Approved:

Dr. McKale Montgomery

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Stephen Clarke

Dr. Winyoo Chowanadisai

Name: Laurie Thompson

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2020

Title of Study: IMPACT OF FERROPTOSIS INDUCTION ON IRON METABOLISM IN CANCER CELLS HARBORING TP53 MUTATIONS

Major Field: NUTRTIONAL SCIENCES

Abstract: The tumor suppressor gene TP53 is the most commonly mutated gene in human cancer, but mutations in TP53 do not just result in loss of tumor suppressor function, they can also promote cancer progression by altering cellular iron acquisition and metabolism. A newly identified role for wild-type TP53 in the mediation of iron homeostasis and cancer cell survival lies in its ability to protect against ferroptosis, a form of iron mediated cell death. The purpose of this study was to determine the extent to which TP53 mutation status effects iron-mediated cell death in response to ferroptosis induction. Using H1299 cells, which are null for TP53, we generated cell lines expressing either a tetracycline inducible wild-type TP53 gene, or a representative mutated TP53 gene from exemplary "hotspot" mutations in the DNA binding domain (248Q, 273H, 282W, 245S, 249S and 175H). These six mutation types were selected because they represent 25% of all TP53 mutations in human cancer. TP53 mutants 248Q, 273H, 245S, and 249S were more sensitive to ferroptosis than WT TP53. As iron-mediated lipid peroxidation is critical for ferroptosis induction we hypothesized that iron acquisition pathways would be upregulated in mutant TP53 expressing cells. However, only cells expressing the 248Q, 175H, and 245S TP53 mutation types exhibited statistically significant increases in spontaneous iron regulatory protein (IRP) RNA binding activity following ferroptosis activation. Moreover, changes in the expression of downstream IRP targets were inconsistent with the observed differences in sensitivity to ferroptosis. These findings indicate that canonical iron regulatory pathways are bypassed during ferroptotic cell death. These results also indicate that induction of ferroptosis may be an effective therapeutic approach for tumor cells expressing distinct TP53 mutation types.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
Iron's Impact on Cancer Incidence	5
Iron Absorption, Transport, Utilization, and Uptake	6
Control of Cellular Iron Homeostasis	7
The Tumor Suppressor TP53	10
The Relationship between Iron and TP53	10
Mutant P53	12
Ferroptosis	13
III. METHODOLOGY	
Cell Culture	16
Creation of stable TP53 expressing cell lines	16
Western Blot	17
Cell Viability and Ferroptosis Induction	18
RNA Extraction	18
Real Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction	19
Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA)	20
Assaying Lipid Peroxidation	21
Statistical Analysis	22

Chapter	Page
IV. FINDINGS	23
TP53 mutation status influences sensitivity to erastin-induced ferroptotis of	cell death
Ferroptosis induction differently impacts IRP1/2 RNA binding activity in TP53 expressing cells	mutant 27
TP53 mutation status influences lipid peroxidation levels and increase foll ferroptosis induction	lowing 29
Ferroptosis induction and TP53 status do not influence iron related gene e	xpression 31
Levels of antioxidant and iron altered protein levels are differently altered treatment in cells expressing distinct TP53 mutation types	by erastin
V. CONCLUSION	35
VI. DISCUSSION	41
REFERENCES	44

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
Table 1: Primer Sequences	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1 Mechanisms of ferroptosis induction	14
2 Validation of tetracycline inducible WT and mutant TP53 expression	25
3 Influences of TP53 mutation status on ferroptosis sensitivity	26
4 Effect of erastin treatment on IRP1/2 RNA binding activity in cells harboring WT TP53 or mutant TP53.	28
5 TP53-dependant differences in lipid peroxidation following ferroptosis induction	30
6 Induction of distinct TP53 mutation types does not impact iron related gene expression following ferroptosis induction	32
7 Relative protein abundance following TP53 induction and ferroptosis induction	34

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Iron is a necessary nutrient but it is also crucial to cancer progression due to its essentiality in cell proliferation. However, in excess, iron also has potential to be reactive and cause damage and inflammation. The damage due to iron overload can lead to liver, heart and pancreas damage, and is thought to be a driver of cancer initiation in these tissues^{1,2}. Therefore, a better understanding of iron and its regulation, when it comes to cancer progression, could help us develop and improve cancer therapies. Because iron is a crucial, yet potentially toxic nutritional resource, homeostasis is regulated at both the systemic and cellular level.

Important regulators of cellular iron homeostasis are iron regulatory proteins (IRP) and the iron regulatory elements (IRE) to which they bind. IRPs, found in the cytosol of the cell, bind to the IREs on specific regions of mRNAs that encode proteins involved in iron storage (ferritin), uptake (transferrin receptor; TFRC), utilization (mitochondrial aconitase), and export (ferroportin). When the cell is iron deficient, IRPs bind to the IRE in the 5' end of the untranslated regions (UTR) of mRNAs such as ferritin, mitochondrial aconitase, and ferroportin and inhibit their translation. Conversely, binding to IRE in the 3' UTR of mRNA, such as TFRC, promotes transcript stabilization and increased expression³. When the cell is iron sufficient, IRPs do not bind IRE which allows for transcription of ferritin and degradation of transferrin receptor mRNA⁴. In cancer, IRP signaling pathways can be corrupted in an effort to acquire sufficient iron to support rapid cell proliferation. For example, IRP2 overexpression in breast cancer results in increased TFRC expression, decreased ferritin expression, and subsequently an increased labile iron pool⁵. Increased expression of TFRC was also found to have worse clinical prognosis in patients that had renal cell carcinoma⁶. As mentioned above, increased expression of TFRC is typically mediated by increased IRP RNA binding activity, but overexpression of IRP1 was actually found to decrease tumor growth *in vivo*⁷. Thus, the opposing effects of IRP2 overexpression appear to be independent of the influence of IRP2 on iron metabolism and continued investigation into the roles that IRPs play cancer progression is warranted ⁸.

TP53 is called the "guardian of the genome" for good reason. Under cellular stress, it has the potential to protect and regulate cell life by pausing cell cycle progression to repair DNA or inducing apoptosis. TP53 also regulates autophagy, metabolism, and angiogenesis, and has recently been found to be involved in iron homeostasis^{9,10}. For example, TP53 has the ability to modulate IRP1 RNA binding activity through the transcriptional regulation of the iron sulfur cluster assembly enzyme (ISCU)¹¹. When an iron sulfur cluster is inserted into IRP1, it cannot bind to the IRE resulting in increased in ferritin protein expression⁴. The ability of TP53 to increase ferritin expression promotes the sequestration of iron into storage, thereby decreasing its availability for use and reactivity, and protecting against cancer progression.

Another newly identified role for TP53 in the mediation of iron homeostasis and cancer cell survival lies in the ability for TP53 to protect against ferroptosis, a form of iron mediated cell death. Ferroptosis is characterized by glutathione (GSH) depletion and iron accumulation resulting in increased lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress¹². Increased iron uptake is essential for ferroptotic cell death as co-treatment with an iron chelator is sufficient to inhibit ferroptosis induction. Moreover, it is understood that iron uptake via TFRC is necessary for iron-mediated lipid peroxidation but, it is unknown how TFRC is regulated during ferroptosis¹³. Typically,

TFRC expression is modulated by IRPs in response to changes cellular iron status, but IRP binding activity during ferroptosis has not been investigated. Developing an understanding of sensitivity of cells harboring TP53 mutations to ferroptosis could improve therapies targeting specific types of tumors.

Interestingly, wild type TP53 appears to be protective against ferroptosis, while cells with knockout TP53 are more sensitive to ferroptotic cell death¹⁴. This is important because TP53 mutations are the most common of the genetic alterations in human carcinoma. Somatic mutations occur in 50% of all types of cancers including colorectal and those of the breast, neck, head and many more¹⁵. When P53 is mutated, it is not able to fully function as it should, which leads to the dysregulation of a multiplicity of pathways regulating cycles in the cell. There are many different types of TP53 mutations but 97% of them are located in the DNA binding domain, and can be categorized into two major groups: contact or conformational¹⁶. Both mutation types appear in the protein-DNA interface, but contact mutations reside where the protein comes in contact with the DNA without affecting TP53 structure while conformational mutations impact the structure of the core domain of the protein¹⁷⁻¹⁹. Importantly, the wild-type functions of TP53 are impaired regardless of mutation type, and thus tumors expressing TP53 mutants may be more susceptible to ferroptotic targeting. As TP53 is mutated in more than half of all human cancers, determining the sensitivity of specific TP53 mutation types to ferroptosis activation could have significant implications.

Furthermore, understanding how to manipulate iron metabolism in cancer cells expressing different TP53 mutations could lead to the development of novel therapies. The purpose of this study is to establish how TP53 mutation status effects the iron-mediated cell death in response to ferroptosis induction. We hypothesize that cells harboring TP53 mutations will be more sensitive to ferroptosis than cells expressing wild type TP53. We also hypothesize that IRP RNA binding activity will be further increased in response to ferroptosis activation in cells with mutated TP53 compared to cells with wild type TP53. To test these hypotheses, we propose these two specific aims:

Aim 1: To determine the extent to which mutant TP53 status influences ferroptotic sensitivity.

Aim 2: To evaluate the impact of ferroptosis on IRP-dependent regulation of iron metabolism.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Iron's Impact on Cancer Incidence

Hallmarks of tumor initiation and progression include increased cellular proliferation, deregulated cellular energy metabolism, and vascularization, each of which is dependent upon the acquisition of sufficient levels of iron. Iron also has the capacity to promote damaging free radical production, and thus it has been implicated in tumor initiation as well. Though the mechanisms by which iron contributes to tumor progression and initiation remain poorly described, a significant body of evidence exists suggesting that targeting iron may be a desirable approach for both cancer prevention and treatment. This evidence is underscored by population-based studies that indicate that cancer risk increases with increasing body iron content. For example, patients with hemochromatosis, a genetic disorder causing iron overload, have a significantly higher risk of developing hepatic cancer, with a moderate risk of developing non-hepatic cancers^{2,20}.

In the general population, there is conflicting evidence as to whether a high dietary intake of iron significantly increased risk of developing cancer. Evaluation of different dietary sources of iron (i.e., heme versus non-heme and food-based versus supplemental) as well as differences in cancer sites likely contribute to conflicting results^{2,21,22}. Nevertheless, a large meta-analysis

of dietary intake studies did suggest that higher iron intake is associated with increased risk of colon cancer, regardless of the form in which it was ingested ^{2,22,23}.

Moreover, data from the first NHANES study also indicated a very small increase in transferrin saturation percentage in people that got cancer over a 17 year follow-up period²⁴. Likewise, the reduction of iron stores by phlebotomy is associated with a decrease in both cancer-specific and all-cause mortality ²⁵. It is important to note that iron deficiency can also lead to oxidative DNA damage, which could increase potentially promote cancer initiation, but there is a lack of evidence linking iron deficiency to cancer incidence²⁶. Thus, the balancing act between iron toxicity and adequacy are critical for minimizing cancer risk and optimizing health.

Iron Absorption, Transport, Utilization, and Uptake

Iron is an indispensable mineral for mammalian cells due to its essentiality in DNA synthesis, metabolic regulation, cell cycle progression, and cell proliferation²⁷. However, free ferrous iron can also create reactive oxygen species through Fenton the reaction, which can initiate lipid peroxidation, oxidative stress, and DNA damage. Thus, iron homeostasis must be highly regulated in order to both avoid deficiency and prevent toxicity. There is no known mechanism for excess iron excretion from mammals, but rather, iron is regulated at the absorptive level in the intestinal enterocyte. Dietary iron, in the form of heme iron enters the enterocyte by a yet unidentified heme transporter. Non-heme iron must first be reduced into a divalent transition metal, Fe²⁺, by duodenal cytochrome B on the apical membrane, where it then is able to enter the enterocyte via divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1)²⁸. Within the enterocyte iron is either stored by iron storage protein ferritin, used by the enterocyte, or effluxed from the enterocyte by the basolateral membrane protein ferroportin.

Following export across the basolateral membrane, ferrous iron is re-oxidized by hephaestin before being loaded onto the iron transport protein transferrin (TF)²⁹. TF plays a

critical role in iron transport because a physiological (neutral) pH iron is insoluble in its free state and can generate free radicals. TF provides a safe means of iron transport, making it available for use by other tissues. TF delivers iron to other tissues via TFRC uptake. TFRC is a membrane glycoprotein that is responsible for iron uptake in all mammalian cells and is involved in cellular regulation of iron metabolism³⁰. Once bound, the TF/TFRC complex is endocytosed where the acidic pH of the endosome results in the release of iron. Once in the cell, iron is either stored in ferritin, an iron storage protein, or utilized for energy metabolism and iron containing proteins³¹.

Control of Cellular Iron Homeostasis

Iron regulatory proteins (IRPs) control the expression of DMT1, ferroportin, TFRC, and ferritin, and are thus essential controllers of cellular iron homeostasis ⁴. IRP1 and IRP2 act as posttranscriptional regulators by binding and releasing from hairpin like structures in the 5' and 3' untranslated regions (UTR) of the mRNA referred to as iron regulator elements (IRE). Under low iron conditions IRP-IRE binding promotes iron uptake, IRP1/2 bind to IREs in the 5' end of the UTRs of transcripts such as ferritin, resulting in translational repression, whereas binding to the IREs in the 3' UTRs of TFRC results in mRNA transcript stabilization³¹. This leads to increased iron uptake and release of stored iron resulting in increased iron availability within the cell.

Under iron replete conditions, IRP1 and IRP2 functionality and regulation differs. IRP1 is a bifunctional protein that functions either as a high-affinity RNA binding protein as described above, or as the cytosolic isoform of the TCA cycle intermediate, aconitase. When sufficient iron is available, insertion of an iron-sulfur cluster into IRP1 prevents it from acting as an RNA binding protein and instead promotes its cytosolic aconitase activity^{4,32}. Additionally, IRP1 is also subject to posttranscriptional regulation by other factors such as nitrogen species, reactive

oxygen, phosphorylation and disruptions in iron sulfur (Fe-S) cluster assembly and disassembly^{33,34}.

Unlike IRP1, IRP2 is regulated via modulation of protein stability and degradation. IRP2 is stabilized during hypoxic and low iron conditions and degraded under iron replete conditions ^{35,36}. Iron-dependent degradation of IRP2 involves recognition by its E3 ligase, FBXL5, which targets it for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation^{37,38}. Other iron-independent mechanisms for regulation involve nitrogen species, 2-OG-oxygenase, and hypoxia^{3,35,36}. Phosphorylation is another mechanism independent of iron that regulates IRP2. This regulation can swap IRP2 from high affinity to low affinity to the RNA^{39,40}. The identification of iron-independent pathways by which IRP1 and IRP2 are regulated suggests that extracellular agents capable of orchestrating changes in cellular iron metabolism beyond the canonical alterations in IRP RNA binding activity may still be identified.

The global regulators of iron metabolism, IRP1 and IRP2 seem to have opposing roles in tumors in vivo. In mouse models, IRP2 overexpression promotes tumor growth whereas IRP1 overexpression suppresses tumor growth^{8,41}. This is consistent with differing regulation of IRP1 and IRP2. Because IRP2 is usually degraded during iron sufficient conditions, overexpression of IRP2 could lead to inappropriate binding to the IRE resulting in increased iron import via TFRC and decrease iron export via ferroportin^{6,42}. This leads to an increase in the labile iron pool, which increase iron's availability for reactivity. These separate findings suggest iron metabolism proteins like ferritin, TFRC, ferroportin and the regulator of these IRP2 have a negative influence on cancer prognosis therefore, influence cancer progression.

Indeed, the iron uptake protein TFRC has is overexpressed in many cancers^{43,44}. Increased TFRC expression is also associated with worse tumor pathologies and resistance to chemotherapies and as such has been suggested as a novel biomarker and therapeutic target for

some cancers^{30,43,45,46}. As such, anti-TFRC antibodies have been used to inhibit tumor growth^{6,30,43,47}. However, because of the systemic effects anti-TFRC antibodies would have on whole body iron homeostasis, the targeting of chemotherapeutic drugs for TFRC-mediated uptake is a more desirable therapeutic approach.

The role of the iron storage protein, ferritin, in cancer progression is not as clear, but perturbations in ferritin levels have been associated with a more malignant phenotype⁴². For example, ferritin regulation depends on the tumor cells tendency toward rapid utilization or storage of iron⁴⁸. Increased ferritin expression has been demonstrated to contribute to growth arrest by restricting iron availability ⁴⁹. Conversely, downregulation of ferritin increases the labile iron pool, which can increase tumor cell proliferation⁵⁰. However, the downregulation of ferritin, and subsequently enlarged labile iron pool, is also associated with increase chemotherapeutic sensitivity, presumably by increasing reactive oxygen species production^{42,51}. Furthermore, decreased ferritin leads to more iron availability and increase metabolism of tumor cells while decreasing iron storage.

Ferroportin, the iron efflux protein, is decreased in expression in many cancer types, but especially breast cancer. Decreased ferroportin expression is associated with increased levels of the labile iron pool in cultured breast cancer cells and increased growth in breast tumor xenografts⁷. Decreased ferroportin expression was also associated with a poor prognosis in a cohort study of 800 patients with breast cancer⁵². Particularly, decreased ferroportin was associated with increased metastasis, which suggests that ferroportin levels could potentially be used to predict both primary tumor growth as well as metastatic spread. Indeed, an iron-regulatory gene signature has been used to discriminate among breast cancer patients with high versus low risk of distant metastasis free survival⁵³. The utility of an iron regulatory gene signature in other cancers has not been described, but given the importance of iron regulatory genes to cancer progression deserves continued investigation.

The Tumor Suppressor TP53

TP53 was first described as an oncogene in 1979 by Lane and Crawford who hypothesized it was an important oncogene of SV40, a oncoprotein tumor virus^{54,55}. Soon after, P53 was actually discovered to be a tumor suppressor. This understanding developed from the description of an inherited familial predisposition to cancer development, termed Li-Fraumeni syndrome in 1982⁵⁶. Then in 1990, the primary cause of Li-Fraumeni syndrome was found to be an inherited gene mutation in TP53⁵⁷. After this discovery, the tumor suppressive qualities of P53 were confirmed with a mouse study in which knock out of TP53 lead to tumor development in 100% of the mice⁵⁸. After this establishment, more studies on the genome of tumor cells found that TP53 was mutated more often than any other gene in tumor cells⁵⁹. These genetic studies also found that cells with TP53 mutations could have a "gain of function" which actually results in the development of oncogenic properties.

TP53 is a tetramer protein that has an important role as a potent transcriptional regulator of protein expression. TP53 expression increases in response to stress in normal functioning cells and acts as transcriptional regulator to control the expression of proteins that aid the cell during stress. More specifically,TP53 has been found to be involved in DNA repair, angiogenesis, senescence, metabolism, and autophagy⁶⁰. Usually, when it is latent, during low or absent stress, TP53 is targeted for proteasomal degradation via its E3 ubiquitin ligase, MDM2⁶¹. Thus, under normal conditions, TP53 protein expression remains low to undetectable⁶². In response to stress, MDM2 does not bind and TP53 protein rapidly accumulates and functions by slowing or stopping the cell cycle to allow the cell to repair DNA damage through transcriptional activation of P21, MDM2 and GADD45^{10,62}. If the DNA is beyond repair, TP53 has the ability to induce apoptosis through transcriptional activation of BAX, and IGF-BP^{61,62}.

The Relationship between Iron and P53

Interestingly, P53 is regulated in response to changes in iron availability, but it can likewise influence cellular iron metabolism and homeostasis. For example, TP53 is destabilized and exported from the nucleus in response to heme supplementation *in vitro*⁹. Conversely, TP53 is stabilized by iron chelators due to hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha⁶³. Thus, the capacity for iron status to impact TP53 expression suggests a role for iron in cancer development beyond that of ROS production, but also by influencing TP53's tumor suppressive functions.

On the other hand, TP53 was found to be a regulator of iron homeostasis through the transcriptional regulation of the iron regulatory enzyme iron sulfur assembly enzyme (ISCU)¹¹. This enzyme acts as a scaffold for the assembly of iron sulfur clusters. Iron sulfur clusters are proteins involved in many functional processes like regulatory, DNA repair, catalyst and electron transfer functions. As IRP1 is also an iron sulfur cluster containing protein, iron sulfur cluster biogenesis can directly influence the control of cellular iron homeostasis. Insertion of an iron sulfur cluster into the RNA binding site of IRP1 prevents its RNA binding activity, which can lead to increased iron storage and decreased iron uptake⁶⁴. Thus, another tumor suppressive function of TP53 is to promote iron sequestration into storage and to reduce iron availability for tumor cell proliferation. Unfortunately, TP53 is mutated in more than half of all cancers, and TP53 mutations correspond with reduced ISCU expression, which could potentially increase the labile iron pool¹¹.

Interestingly, another enzyme critical for iron sulfur cluster biogenesis, ferredoxin reductase (FDXR) was also recently demonstrated to influence TP53-dependent tumor suppression via IRP2⁶⁵. In this context, knockdown of FDXR increased IRP2 expression and IRP2 decreased TP53 expression via interaction with a putative IRE in the 3' UTR of TP53. This resulted in mitochondrial iron overload and spontaneous tumor development in mice.

Importantly, TP53 overexpression was able to correct the FDXR-mediated abnormalities in iron homeostasis, suggesting that the FDXR-P53 loop is critical for tumor suppression via regulation of iron homeostasis. The influence of TP53 mutations on FDXR-mediated control or iron homeostasis was not investigated, but given the prevalence of TP53 mutations in human cancers, these studies are warranted.

Mutant P53

A gene mutation is an alteration in the DNA sequence that makes up a gene. There are several different types of mutations that can occur including substitution, insertion, deletion and frameshift. Subcategories for mutations involving substitutions are known as silent, nonsense, and missense. Substitution mutation cause a swap in a nucleotide for another. For example, guanine could be exchanged for thymine in a DNA sequence, and thus just one codon would be affected. The difference in substitution subtypes has to do with what effect the mutation has on the protein. Missense leads to an altered codon from an insertion of a different amino acid during protein translation⁶⁶. Another way to characterize mutations is by establishing their origin of change. Germ-line mutations are variation passed on from the germ cells and somatic mutations originate from the body's cells⁶⁷.

A mutation can happen in all coding exons of the TP53 gene. It was found that 73% of all mutations in TP53 are missense mutations. This type of mutation is characterized by a substitution of a single amino acid in the proteins primary structure⁶⁸. There is also a high prevalence of mutations in exons 4-9 that encode for the DNA-binding domain of the protein, which interferes with TP53's transcription factor activity⁵⁹. These DNA-binding domain mutations can further be categorized as conformational or contact mutation.

Contact mutations are characterized by missense changes in the amino acids of the protein that comes into contact with the DNA binding domain therefore impairing the

transcriptional activity of the protein without effecting its overall protein structure or conformation. Conformation mutations on the other hand both interfere with normal DNA binding and alter the proteins overall structure. Though hundreds of P53 mutations identified, 6 sites within the DNA binding domain are mutated at a much higher frequency than either other locations. These 6 so-called "hotspots" (R248Q, R249S, R273H, R282W, R175H and G245S) represent nearly 25% of all TP53 mutations¹⁶.

Mutations in TP53 do not simply result in loss of wild type function. Alterations in transcriptional binding partners can result in TP53 mutations that are even more tumorigenic than total loss of TP53 (null TP53). These types of mutations are known as "gain of function" (GOF) mutations^{16,69,70}. Several GOF mutants (R175H, R248Q, and R273H) were found to have increased oncogenic function through stimulation of the Warburg effect by facilitating glucose uptake and increasing lactate production⁷¹. Altering cell metabolism however is just one example of how GOF mutants promote tumorigenesis. GOF properties have shown the ability to affect other oncogenic processes, such as promoting increased cell proliferation, migration, and metastasis, as well as conferring resistance to chemotherapies^{16,69-71}.

Thus far, therapeutic strategies for targeting mutant P53 have focused on either decreasing mutant TP53 protein stability or restoring its wild-type function. With regards to GOF mutants, destabilization of mutant TP53 could be a promising therapeutic approach because this would decrease their tumorigenic properties. Intriguingly, genetic manipulation restoring TP53's tumor suppressive functions increased apoptosis and decreased tumor cell growth in mice, but pharmacologic reactivation of TP53 in humans is still in its infancy^{72,73}. However, because TP53 mutations are often drivers of chemotherapy resistance, further investigation of therapeutic strategies for targeting TP53 mutants could have significant clinical implications⁷⁴.

Ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is a newly described mode of non-apoptotic cell death that is dependent on iron for induction. In order for this type of cell death to take place there needs to be a depletion of glutathione, an inactivation of glutathione peroxidase 4 and an accumulation of free iron (Figure 1)⁷⁵⁻⁷⁷. The combination of these characteristics leads to a high level of lipid peroxidation. This type of cell death is separated from apoptosis because it does not require caspase activation. Moreover, unlike apoptosis, iron is essential to ferroptotic cell death because ferroptosis is inhibited cells when iron is depleted by an iron chelator⁷⁸.

Figure 1. Mechanisms of ferroptosis induction. Ferroptosis is characterized by lethal levels of lipid hydroperoxides (PL-PUFA(PE)-OOH). Ferroptosis induction and sensitivity are controlled by multiple factors including increased free iron, inactivation of glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), depletion of glutathione and therefore there is an increased in lipid peroxidation ultimately leading to cell death. Other factors involved include amino acids, polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism, and biogenesis of NADPH, phospholipids (PL-PUFA-PE), and coenzyme Q_{10} (Co Q_{10}). lipoxygenases; ALOXs, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; HMGCR, lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferse 3; LPCAT3, nuclear receptor coactivator 4; NCOA4, solute carrier family 7 member 11; SLC7A11, squalene synthase; SQS, nuclear factor, erythroid 2 like 2; NRF2. Ferritinphagy is the process of degrading ferritin and releasing the free iron. Image from: Stockwell et al., 2017.

In order for ferroptosis to be induced, the cell needs to accumulate iron via TFRC¹³. As previously discussed, TFRC is regulated by IRPs in response to changes in iron levels, but how TFRC expression is mediated in response to ferroptosis induction has not yet been investigated. Understanding how TFRC expression remains elevated even as the cell becomes saturated with free iron however will be critical to understanding the mechanisms controlling iron-mediated cell death and susceptibility to ferroptosis.

Expression of wild type TP53 has the ability to protect cells from enduring ferroptosis by transcriptionally regulating genes capable of inhibiting lipid peroxidation and slowing glutathione depletion. Stabilization and normal functioning of wild-type TP53 also appears to be necessary for sustained *de novo* glutathione production and increased import of cysteine via system x_e⁻ which is protective against the lipid peroxidative nature of ferroptosis¹⁴. Thus, TP53 mutations resulting in loss of wild-type activity can render cells more susceptible to ferroptosis activation. For example, the TP53 mutant expressing colorectal cancer cell lines CACO2 and SW837 are more sensitive to ferroptosis induced by cysteine glutathione antiport system (system x_c^-) via erastin than cells expressing wild-type TP53⁷⁹. This increased sensitivity was demonstrated to result from an inability of mutant TP53 to induce SLC7A11 expression, thereby limiting cysteine uptake and subsequently glutathione production, ultimately leading to ferroptosis^{14,70}. However, these studies were not carried out in isogenic cell lines, and thus differences in ferroptotic sensitivity cannot be attributed solely to differences TP53 mutation types. Moreover, the influence of more prevalent "hotspot" TP53 mutations on ferroptosis sensitivity has not been investigated. As these mutation types represent the most prevalent TP53 mutations in human cancers, determining their sensitivity to ferroptosis could have significant implications¹⁶.

CHAPTER III

METHODS

Aim 1: To determine the extent to which mutant TP53 status influences ferroptotic sensitivity.

Experimental Methods for Aim 1:

Cell Culture

The human, non-small cell lung carcinoma, H1299 cell line (ATCC CRL-5803) was selected because they do not express an endogenous TP53. For all experiments, cells were grown in RPMI 1640 1X with L-glutamine (Corning #10-040-CV Manassas, VA) supplemented with 10% tetracycline-free fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin streptomycin 100X (Corning #30-002-Cl Manassas, VA), and maintained in a 37°C incubator with 5% CO₂ and 95% humidity.

Creation of stable TP53 expressing cell lines

Tetracycline inducible plasmids (pcDNA5/TO) containing either wild-type TP53, or a representative "hotspot" TP53 mutant (R248Q, R273H, R175H, R282W, G245S, R245G, or R249S) were generated and validated by GenScript (Nanjing, China). H1299 cells were plated and allowed to grow to 70-90 % confluency in a 6 well plate. Cells were co-transfected with a Tet repressor plasmid, pcDNA6/TR, and one of the tetracycline-inducible plasmids mentioned above

using lipofectamine 3000 reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA Cat # L3000001) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Twenty-four hours after transfection, lipofectamine containing media was removed and replaced with fresh media, and cells were allowed to grow for another 24 hours. Cells were then split to < 25% confluency in media containing both 6 μ g/ml blasticidin and 600 μ g/ml hygromycin to select for successful transfectants. Following selection, cells were maintained in blasticidin and hygromycin containing media, supplemented with tetracycline-free fetal bovine serum to protect against "leaky" expression. TP53 plasmids were induced by adding10 μ g/ml tetracycline to the media for 24 hours.

Western Blot

Western blot was used to validate tetracycline mediated induction of WT TP53 and TP53 mutations inserted into H1299 null cells. Following 24 hours of treatment with $10 \,\mu g/ml$ tetracycline, total protein was harvested by first removing the adherent cells with cell stripper collecting the cells into a microcentrifuge tube. The collected cell suspension was centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The cells were washed with 1X PBS and centrifuged at 1,000 x gfor 5 minutes at 4°C. Cells were lysed with RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 1% NP-40, 0.5% Na-deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 2 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, Protease inhibitor cocktail, DTT, Citrate, PMSF, Mg132). Samples were vortexed every 5 minutes for 20 minutes before centrifugation at 14,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The protein containing supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C. Total protein concentration was determined based on the bicinchoninic acid assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, Cat #23209). Thirty micrograms total protein was diluted in RIPA and 5X Laemmli sample buffer (LSB) (1% Bromophenol blue, SDS, β -mercaptoethanol, glycerol, Tris-Cl pH 6.8) before heating at 95°C for 5 minutes to denature the proteins. The protein was then loaded into a Mini-PROTEAN TGX Stain-Free Precast gel with 4-20% polyacrylamide (Biorad Cat #4568096 Hercules, CA) and electrophoresed at 150V for 60 minutes. Protein was transferred onto a PVDF membrane at 300

mA for 75 minutes. Equal transfer was confirmed with Ponceau staining before blocking of the membrane for 1 hour in 5% nonfat milk with 0.01% TBS-T at room temperature. Primary antibodies (GPX4, TFR1, FTH1, GAPDH) were diluted at 1:1000 concentration in 5% milk, 1X tris-buffered saline and 0.01% tween were incubated on the membranes overnight at 4°C. Following this incubation, secondary antibody at 1:10,000 concentration in 5% milk and 0.01% tween was incubated on the membrane for 1 hour at room temperature. The blot was washed with 5% milk,1X tris-buffered saline, 0.01% tween twice and then 1X Tris-buffered saline; 0.01% tween 2X before being probed with enhanced chemiluminescence (GE Healthcare) signal Blots were developed using the ProteinSimple Fluorchem R (R&D Systems) and analyzed using ImageJ software⁸⁰.

Cell Viability and Ferroptosis Induction

Cells were seeded at 4,000 cells per well in a 96 well plate and allowed to grow for 24 hours before treatment with 5 µM erastin, or a vehicle control (DMSO) along with 10 µg tetracycline for 24 hours. Co-treatment with 10 µM ferrostatin-1 (FER-1), a ferroptosis inhibitor, was used as a negative control. Cell viability was measured by PrestoBlue reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) by adding 10 µl of PrestoBlue reagent followed by incubation at 37 °C for 20 minutes. Differences in fluorescence absorbance were measured using a Biotek Synergy HT plate reader. Differences in cell viability were determined by normalizing reductions in fluorescent absorbance relative to the vehicle control group for each cell line.

RNA Extraction

To assess gene expression changes following induction of ferroptosis, cells were seeded in a 6 well plate at 1 x 10^5 cell/well and incubated for 24 hours before treatment with 10 μ M erastin and 10 μ g tetracycline for 24 hours. After the 24-hour treatment, media was aspirated from the wells and cells were homogenized using 800 μ l Trizol (Invitrogen Cat# 15596026) before being

collected into microcentrifuge tubes. Following a 5-minute incubation at room temperature, 160 μ l of chloroform was added and the samples were mixed well and incubated for another 3 minutes at room temperature before being centrifuged at 12,000 x *g* for 15 minutes at 4°C. The RNA containing supernatant was transferred to a fresh microcentrifuge tubes and 400 μ l of isopropanol was added to each tube. RNA was precipitated at -80 °C overnight. The next day, the samples were centrifuged at 12,000 x *g* for 15 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was poured off and the pellet was washed in RNase-free 75% ethanol, vortexed and centrifuged at 7500 x *g* for 5 minutes at 4°C. Samples were then dried and re-suspended in nuclease free water. Concentration, OD 260/230 and OD260/280 ratios of RNA was measured using a Nanodrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific) spectrometer to assess RNA yield, and purity, respectively. RNA integrity was assessed by electrophoresis on a 1% agarose/1% bleach gel at 100 V for 30 minutes. Samples were stored at -80°C.

Real Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

For cDNA synthesis, 1 µg total RNA, was DNase treated and then reverse transcribed using Superscript II (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Each sample was plated in duplicate with the addition of 1 µl of the PCR mastermix (SYBR green, primer and nuclease free water) to each well. The plate was then spun down at 1,000 x g for 5 minutes. Standard condition program was used with the ABI software with the 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR Systems (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Cycles included one 2 min hold (50 °C); one 10 min denaturation (95 °C); 40 cycles of denaturation (95 °C for 15 sec) and annealing (60 °C for 1 min); and extension phase (95 °C for 15 sec followed by 60 °C for 15 sec followed by 95 °C for 15 sec). Genes were normalized to relative Peptidylprolyl Isomerase A (PIPIA) abundance using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. Primer sequences use for qPCR are listed in Table 1.

Table 1

Primer Name	Sense Primer	Antisense Primer	Accession No
PPIA	5'tgccatcgccaaggagtag	5'tgcacagacggtcactcaaa	NM_021130.5
TFRC	5'agttgaacaaagtggcacgagcag	5'agcagttggctgttgtacctctca	NM_001128148.1
SLC7A11	5'etcegegeeggtgetttttg	5'ctccgcgccggtgctttttg	NM_014331.4
CISD1	5'ccttcacatccagaaagacaacc	5'ctcttcgttatgttttgtgtgagc	NM_018464.5
NOCA4	5'cagcagctctactcgttattgg	5'tctccaggcacacagagact	NM_001145260.1
ATG5	5'ctccgcgccggtgctttttg	5'cagattccgcgctccggtgg	NM_004849.4
DPP4	5'aaaggcacctgggaagtcatcg	5'cagctcacaactgaggcatgtc	NM_001935.4

Cyclo, cyclophilin; TfR1, Transferrin Receptor; SLC7A11, solute carrier family 7 member 11; CISD1, CDGSH Iron Sulfur Domain 1; NOCA4, Nuclear Receptor Coactivator 4; ATG5, autophagy related 5; DPP4, Dipeptidyl Peptidase 4

Aim 2: To evaluate the impact of ferroptosis on IRP-dependent regulation of iron metabolism.

Experimental Methods for Aim 2:

Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA)

All cell lines described in Aim 1 were treated with 10 µM erastin and 10 µg tetracycline for 24 hours and harvested from 25T plates at 90% confluency. To harvest cytosolic protein, cells were collected and centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C. The cell pellet was washed with 1X PBS and centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 5 minutes at 4°C. Then, the cell pellet was re-suspended in 2-volumes cytosol buffer (1M HEPES 10mM, 10mM KCl, 0.1mM EGTA, 0.1 mM EDTA, 1M DTT, 0.1M PMSF, 100 X protease inhibitor cocktail) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). After 15 minutes, 10% v/v NP40 was added, and the samples were vortexed for 10 seconds then

centrifuged at 12,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4 C. Finally, the supernatant (cytosol) was removed to a fresh microfuge tube and stored at -80° C until use. Protein concentration was determined based on the bicinchoninic acid assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, Cat #23209). Spontaneous IRP1 and IRP2 RNA binding activities was assessed by incubating 10 μ g cytosolic protein with saturating levels of [³²P]-labeled RNA from the L-ferritin IRE as previously described⁸¹. Total IRP1 RNA binding activity was measured by adding 10 μ g of cytosolic protein in the presence of 4% β-mercaptoethanol to saturating levels of RNA.

Assaying Lipid Peroxidation

To assay TP53-dependent differences in lipid peroxidation following erastin treatment, all cell lines were plated in an 8 well chamber slide (Ibidi, Martinsried, Germany) at 10,000 cells /well. Cells were treated 10 μ M erastin and 10 μ g tetracycline for 24 hours. The cells were then washed with 1X Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS) before incubation with 5 μ M BODIPY 581/591 C11and Hoechst stain (1:1000) for 10 minutes at 37°C. Then, the mixture of 1X HBSS and reagent was aspirated and 1X HBSS was added to the cells. Cells were imaged using the BZ-X700 Life Science Microscope (Keyence). Increase lipid peroxidation was shown with oxidation of the polyunsaturated butadienyl portion of the dye resulting in a change from 590 nm to 510 nm excitation. Low photobleach settings and exposure times were held consistent through the imaging process. ImageJ software was used to measure differences in the ratio of red and green fluorescence intensities, which were then normalized to cell number by counting the number of Hoechst stained nuclei⁸⁰. Increases in the ratio of green to red fluorescence intensities indicate an increase in lipid peroxidation.

Statistical Analysis:

One-way ANOVA was used for assessment of differences between cell lines and treatments. Differences will be statistically significant at 95% confidence (alpha=0.05). For post-hoc analysis we used the Tukey LSD test. Student's t-test was used to compare cell type to their relative controls. All tests were performed using SPSS v23.0 software (IBM-SPSS; Chicago, IL, USA). All experiments will be repeated 3 times, n=3. All variables will include mean \pm SEM.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

TP53 mutation status influences sensitivity to erastin-induced ferroptotic cell death.

Human lung carcinoma, H1299 cells, which are null for TP53, were co-transfected with a tetracycline repressor plasmid pcDNA6/TR, and a tetracycline inducible plasmid pcDNA5/TO containing a WT TP53 plasmid, or an exemplary contact (273H, 248Q,175H) or conformational TP53 mutant (282W, 245S, 249S). Tetracycline inducible WT and mutant TP53 protein expression was validated by western blot (**Figure 2**). TP53 expression levels were variable between WT and TP53 mutant types. Induction of WT TP53 protein expression was lower than any of the TP53 mutants, and 273H, 248Q, and 175H mutant protein expression was higher than 282W, 245S, and 249S TP53 protein expression.

To assess the influence of distinct TP53 mutation types on ferroptosis sensitivity, we measured cell viability following treatment with erastin, a potent inducer of ferroptosis. TP53dependent differences in ferroptosis sensitivity were determined by comparing differences in cell viability compared to H1299 cells expressing the WT TP53 plasmid. TP53 null H1299 cells and cells expressing the 282W mutation type did not exhibit differences in sensitivity to erastin treatment compared to the cells expressing WT TP53. However, induction of 273H, 248Q, 175H, 245S, and 249S TP53 mutations increased sensitivity to ferroptosis induction, as evidenced by reduced cell viability compared to the WT TP53 expressing cells following 24 hours of erastin treatment (**Figure 3A**). Importantly, we also demonstrate that cell viability is decreased as a result of ferroptotic cell death as treatment with 10 μ M ferrostatin, a potent ferroptosis inhibitor, was sufficient to rescue cells from ferroptosis (**Figure 3B**). These results indicate that induction of distinct TP53 mutation type is sufficient to increase sensitivity of cells to iron-mediated ferroptotic cell death.



Figure 2 Validation of tetracycline inducible WT and mutant TP53 expression. H1299 (TP53 null) cells were transfected with either a tetracycline inducible wild-type (WT) TP53 or a representative contact (273H, 248Q, 282W) or conformational (175H, 245S, 249S) mutant TP53. Tetracyline inducible expression of WT and mutant TP53 expression was confirmed by western blot. GAPDH was used as a loading control.



Figure 3 Influence of TP53 mutation status on ferroptosis sensitivity. Cell viability measured with PrestoBlue reagent following 24 hours of treatment with 5 μ M erastin (**A**) A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effects of TP53 mutation type on cell viability following erastin treatment (5 μ M; 24 hours) in H1299, WT TP53, 273H, 248Q, 282W, 175H, 245S, and 249S cells. There was a significant effect of TP53 mutation type on cell viability after erastin treatment at the p <0.05 level for the 8 cell types [F (7, 16) = 16, p= 0.000]. Post hoc comparisons using the Tukey LSD test indicated that WT P53 was significantly different from 273H (p=.001), 248Q (p=.014), 175H (p=.000), 245S (p=.001), and 249S (p=.000). *Denotes difference from WT TP53, p<0.05. (**B**) All cells were sufficiently rescued from ferroptosis by 10 μ M ferrostatin, a potent ferroptosis inhibitor. *Denotes statistical differences from respective control, p < 0.05.

Ferroptosis induction differentially impacts IRP1/2 RNA binding activity in mutant TP53 expressing cells. To determine the impact of ferroptosis induction by erastin on IRP function and expression we quantitatively assessed spontaneous and total IRP RNA binding activity through an electrophoretic mobility assay. As iron-mediated lipid peroxidation is critical for ferroptosis induction we hypothesized that IRP RNA binding activity would be increased in response to erastin treatment. However, only cells expressing the 248Q (P=0.019), 175H (P=0.015), and 245S (P=0.027) TP53 mutation types exhibited statistically significant increases in spontaneous IRP RNA binding activity following erastin treatment (**Figure 4A and B**). Unlike IRP2, which is regulated at the level of protein degradation, IRP1 is regulated by the assembly of an Fe-S cluster which inhibits its RNA binding activity. The addition of β-mercaptaethanol prevents Fe-S assembly which allows for the measurement of total IRP1 protein levels^{40,82}. This assay also informs us about the relative distribution of IRP1 in its RNA binding form or its Fe-S cluster containing enzymatic form⁸². Total IRP1 RNA binding activity was not affected by erastin treatment, indicating that changes in spontaneous IRP binding activity was not the result of changes in the total pool of IRP RNA binding capacity (**Figure 4A and C**).



Figure 4 Effect of erastin treatment on IRP1/2 RNA binding activity in cells harboring WT TP53 or mutant TP53. Cells were treated with 10 μ M erastin for 24 hours. (A) Spontaneous and total IRP RNA binding activity were assayed by EMSA *Denotes significant increase from cell types control, p<0.05. (B) Spontaneous IRP RNA binding activity was increased in cells expressing 248Q, 175H, and 245S TP53 mutants. (C) Total IRP RNA binding activity was not changed by erastin treatment.

TP53 mutation status influences lipid peroxidation levels increase following ferroptosis induction. To examine the impact of TP53-dependent differences in reactive oxygen species accumulation in response to ferroptosis induction we assessed lipid peroxidation following erastin treatment. There was a significant increase in lipid peroxidation following erastin treatment in all cells tested except for those expressing a 282W and 273H TP53 mutation (**Figure 5B**). To determine if differences in erastin responsiveness were due to TP53-dependent differences in basal lipid peroxidation, we compared differences in the level of oxidized probe in untreated cells expressing the distinct TP53 mutations types. While there was a significantly more basal lipid peroxidation in 273H mutant TP53 expressing cells, this was not true for the 282W mutants (**Figure 5C**).



Figure 5 TP53-dependent differences in lipid peroxidation following ferroptosis induction. The same cells described in Figure 1 were treated with 10 uM erastin for 24 hours, after which cells were stained with BODIPY 581/591 Cl1, a fluorescent lipid probe which shifts from red to green when oxidized. (**A**) Images that were quantified from BODIPY 581/591 Cl1 staining following normalization to Hoescht nuclear staining to account for differences in cell number. (**B**) A student's t-test was conducted to compare cell types to their control. * Denotes significant difference from control. (**C**) A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effects of TP53 mutation type on lipid peroxidation in H1299, WT TP53, 273H, 248Q, 282W, 175H, 245S, and 249S cells. There was a significant effect of TP53 mutation type on basal oxidized probe at the p <0.05 level for the 8 cell types [F (7,16) = 13.563, p= 0.000]. Post hoc comparisons using the Tukey LSD test indicated that WT TP53 was significantly different from 273H (p= 0.000). An **a** denotes significance from WT TP53.

Ferroptosis induction and TP53 status do not influence iron related gene expression. To examine the influence of TP53 mutation types and ferroptosis induction on iron related gene expression, we assessed relative mRNA expression of TFRC, NCOA4, ATG5, and CISD1 from total RNA using real time quantitative PCR analysis. There was not a significant TP53-dependent change in NCOA4, ATG5, or CISD mRNA expression (**Figure 6**). There was also no significant changes following erastin treatment in any of the iron-related mRNAs examined. However, there was a significant increase in SLC7A11 mRNA expression in WT, 273H, 248Q, 282W, 175H, 245S, and 249S following erastin treatment (**Figure 6E**). SLC7A11 plays a role in the transport and regulation of cellular antioxidant response by regulation of glutathione and cystine transport, and is upregulated following erastin treatment^{14,75}. Thus, it serves as a positive control indicating that ferroptosis was induced despite the lack of lack of change in iron-related gene expression.



Figure 6 Induction of distinct TP53 mutations types does not impact iron related gene expression following following ferroptosis induction. (A) Relative mRNA expression of TFRC (B) NCOA4, (C) ATG5, and (D) CISD1. A one-way between subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare the effects of TP53 mutation type on lipid peroxidation in H1299, WT TP53, R273H, R248Q, R282W, R175H, G245S, and R249S cells. There was a significant effect of TP53 mutation type on TFRC gene expression at the p <0.05 level for the 8 cell types [F(7,16) = 5.302, p= 0.003]. Post hoc comparisons using the Tukey LSD test indicated that H1299 was significantly different from 282W (p= 0.027) and 245S (p=0.004).

Levels of antioxidant and iron related protein levels are differentially altered by erastin treatment in cells expressing distinct TP53 mutation types. To examine the influence of erastin treatment on protein levels of ferritin, transferrin receptor and glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4) we used western blot to assess relative protein levels following ferroptosis induction in each of the cell lines described above. Consistent with our qPCR findings, there was no significant changes in transferrin receptor protein expression following erastin treatment in any of the cell lines examined (**Figure 7A**). There was, however, a significant increase in ferritin expression following ferroptosis induction in 282W (p=0.004), and 249S (p=0.013) TP53 mutant expressing cells, but a significant decrease in ferritin expression in the 273H mutants (p=0.020). (**Figure 7B**). Expression of the potent antioxidant, glutathione peroxidase 4, significant decreased following erastin treatment only in cells expressing the 273H TP53 mutation (**Figure 7C**).



Figure 7 Relative protein abundance following TP53 induction and ferroptosis induction. Western blots of TFRC, FTH, and GPX4 protein expression in TP53 null H1299 cells or following induction of TP53 (WT, 273H, 248Q, 282W, 175H, 245S, and 249S) and treated with 10 uM erastin for 24 hours. Relative expression was quantified to anti-glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) as a loading control. Student's t-test was used to compare to relative control. *Denotes statistical significance to respective control, p <0.05.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Wild-type TP53 has been implicated as an important mediator of ferroptosis sensitivity in human cancer cells, though contradictory roles have been reported^{14,79,83,84}. These mixed findings are likely attributable to the context-dependent TP53-mediated upregulation of CDKN1A expression, which appears to be critical for suppression of ferroptosis¹⁴. Moreover, posttranslational modifications and/or genetic mutations within TP53 can render it unable to induce CDKN1A in some cell types resulting in increased ferroptosis sensitivity^{83,85}. However, the mutants in these studies were acetylation defective mutants and not representative of the more common TP53 mutations within the DNA binding domain most often observed in human cancers. In this study we utilized isogenic cell lines expressing the six most common TP53 mutation types in human cancers to examine the impact of TP53 mutation status on sensitivity to ferroptosis. We established that induction of distinct TP53 mutations alone significantly increased sensitivity to ferroptotic cell death.

Though hundreds of TP53 mutation types have been identified, the majority occur in the DNA binding domain and are categorized as either contact or conformational. Contact mutations are missense changes in the amino acids of the protein that come into contact with the DNA binding domain thereby impairing the transcriptional activity of the protein without effecting

protein structure. Conformational mutations on the other hand both interfere with normal DNA binding and alter the proteins overall structure¹⁶. The distinction between these two TP53 mutation categories is functionally important because mutation type significantly influences mutant TP53 binding partners^{19,86-88}. Of the three contact mutation types investigated in the current study, only the 273H and 248Q TP53 mutant expressing cell lines were more sensitive to ferroptotic cell death than WT TP53 expressing cells; whereas the 282W mutants responded similarly to the WT TP53 expressing cells. On the other hand, the three conformation mutation types examined in this study (175H, 245S, and 249S) were all consistently more sensitive to ferroptosis induction than WT TP53 expressing cells. Further investigation is needed to determine whether conformational type TP53 mutants are uniformly more susceptible to iron-mediated cell death.

We have previously established that induction of distinct TP53 mutation types differentially impacts IRP RNA binding activity and diminishes IRP responsiveness to changes in cellular iron availability⁸⁹. As such, we hypothesized that mutant TP53-dependent differences in ferroptosis sensitivity might be influenced by mutant TP53-dependent differences in IRP RNA binding activity in response to erastin treatment. Indeed, IRP RNA binding activity was significantly increased following ferroptosis induction in the 248Q, 175H, and 245S TP53 mutants. However, IRP RNA binding activity in the 273H, 282W and 249S expressing mutants was unchanged by ferroptosis induction. Thus, erastin-mediated increases in IRP RNA binding activity cannot fully explain the increased sensitivity to ferroptotic cell death in all mutant TP53 expressing cell types.

To investigate if the increase in IRP RNA binding activity was indeed responsible for the increase in ferroptotic sensitivity in the 248Q, 175H, and 245S expressing mutants, we examined the expression of IRP target genes, TFRC and ferritin. We hypothesized that increased IRP RNA binding activity in these cells would result in increased TFRC expression and decreased ferritin

expression, thereby promoting ferroptotic cell death by increasing free iron availability. However, we did not observe any changes in TFRC mRNA or protein expression following erastin treatment in any of the cell lines examined. Similarly, ferritin expression was not changed in any of the cell lines for which an increase in IRP RNA binding activity was observed. Further confounding our initial hypotheses, ferritin expression was decreased in the 273H expressing mutants, but increased in the 249S and 282W mutants. Though these findings are inconsistent with our hypothesis, they are in agreement with our previous studies indicating that ferritin may be regulated independently of IRP in mutant TP53 expressing cells⁸⁹.

The degradation of ferritin via ferritinophagy is an IRP-independent mode of ferritin regulation with an established role in ferroptotic cell death^{90,91}. Therefore, we investigated the potential for ferritinophagy to contribute to ferritin regulation and ferroptosis sensitivity in mutant TP53 expressing cells. We did not detect differences in the expression of any of the ferritinophagy related genes following erastin treatment in any of the cell lines examined. Thus, the mechanisms contributing to increased ferroptotic sensitivity in mutant TP53 expressing cells are complex and may not be consistent between distinct TP53 mutation types. Further investigation is warranted however because increased ferritin expression in the 282W mutant TP53 expressing cells, which were less sensitive to erastin treatment, may be indicative of a unique protective mechanism against ferroptosis in this particular TP53 mutation type.

Independently of how iron becomes available, it is the peroxidation of lipids by free iron within that ultimately leads to ferroptotic cell death. Therefore, we investigated if mutant TP53-dependent changes in reactive oxygen species accumulation in response to ferroptosis induction could explain the observed differences ferroptosis sensitivity. DAPI staining was used to control for differences in cell viability following erastin treatment, so that changes in fluorescent intensity ratios could be normalized to total cell number. Intriguingly, we found that only 5 of the 6 mutant TP53 expressing cell lines had significant increases in lipid peroxidation. This was a

somewhat surprising finding as each of these cell lines were susceptible to ferroptotic cell death, albeit to varying degrees.

To further investigate why the 273H and 282W TP53 mutant expressing cell lines did not undergo increased in peroxidation in response to erastin treatment we analyzed basal levels of lipid peroxidation following induction of TP53 expression alone. The 273H TP53 expressing mutants displayed significantly higher levels of basal lipid peroxidation than any of the other cell lines investigated, which could explain the lack of an additional increase in lipid peroxidation following erastin treatment. Contrarily, despite a lack of erastin responsiveness, induction of 282W mutant TP53 expression did not influence baseline levels of lipid peroxidation either. Intriguingly, the 282W mutant was the only TP53 mutant that was not more sensitive to erastin treatment than WT TP53 expressing cells. These findings indicate that 282W mutant may have more compacity to combat lipid peroxidation than other TP53 mutation types through a yet undefined mechanism. Future studies should examine differences in antioxidative capacity between cells expressing distinct mutant TP53 types.

Under normal cellular conditions, System x_c , which is composed of SLC3A2 and SLC7A11, imports cystine to produce glutathione, a necessary cofactor for GPX4 elimination of lipid peroxides^{76-78,92,93}. In this study, we have examined the impact of ferroptosis induction by treating cells with erastin, a potent, System x_c inhibitor^{78,92,94}. Consistent with previous reports, we also observed a significant increase in SLC7A11 mRNA expression following erastin treatment in each of the cell lines tested, with the exception of the 248Q TP53 mutants⁷⁵. Intriguingly, the induction of SLC7A11 expression following erastin treatment was quite variable between the mutant TP53 expressing cell lines. The 282W TP53 expressing mutants displayed the greatest increase in SLC7A11 expression among the TP53 mutants examined and were also the least sensitive to erastin-mediated ferroptosis induction. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that cells

expressing the 282W TP53 mutation type have an enhanced compensatory response to System x_c^- inhibition.

To date, the targeting of mutant TP53 has primarily focused on restoring its wild-type activity, or promoting its degradation, while iron chelation has been a primary emphasis for the development of iron-based chemotherapy⁷²⁻⁷⁴. In this study we have established that induction of certain TP53 mutation types increases sensitivity to ferroptotic cell death. These findings are novel because they describe an approach that would allow for the exploitation of mutant TP53 expression to more favorably induce iron-mediated cell death via the activation of ferroptosis. We have also demonstrated that the IRP response to erastin treatment is dependent upon TP53 mutation type and is not essential for ferroptosis induction. Future studies should investigate the IRP-independent modes of iron regulation in mutant TP53 expressing cells.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSION

Iron is an essential and a potentially toxic nutrient that can contribute to both the initiation and progression of cancer¹. The tumor suppressor TP53 protects against carcinogenesis by contributing to the regulation of cellular iron homeostasis⁹⁵. Unfortunately, however, TP53 is the mutated in nearly half of all human cancers. Mutations in TP53 can lead to both loss of tumor suppressive functions and the acquisition of oncogenic traits, but the influence on cellular iron homeostasis has yet to be fully described.

Ferroptosis is an iron-dependent mode of nonapoptotic cell death with vast chemotherapeutic potential^{12,78,96,97}. Driven by the iron-dependent accumulation of lipid reactive oxygen species (ROS), the import of iron by TFRC-mediated iron uptake is an essential component of ferroptotic cell death⁹⁸. The increased expression of IRP2 and degradation of FTH1 have also been touted as critical contributors to ferroptosis induction, presumably as a means of increasing the redox-active labile iron pool^{78,91}. Yet, the contribution of the IRE-IRP system to iron accumulation during ferroptotic cell death has not been investigated until now.

Our lab has previously demonstrated that expression of distinct TP53 mutation types impairs IRP responsiveness to changes in cellular iron availability⁸⁹. Thus, we hypothesized that disruptions in IRP-mediated signaling pathways would contribute to increased ferroptotic

sensitivity in mutant TP53 expressing cells. We did observe increased in IRP RNA binding activity in 248Q, 175H, and 245S mutants compared to WT TP53 expressing cells following ferroptosis induction. However, increased IRP RNA binding activity alone cannot fully explain the increased sensitivity to ferroptotic cell death in these cell types as the predicted corresponding changes in TFRC and ferritin expression were not detected. Moreover, IRP RNA binding activity was not increased in 273H and 249S mutants, but these cell types also exhibited increased sensitivity to ferroptosis induction.

Intriguingly, transferrin-bound iron uptake, via the IRP target TFRC, is essential for ferroptosis⁹⁸. Though no changes in TFRC expression were observed in the present study, the question remains as to why TFRC would continue to import iron following ferroptosis induction at the cost of cell death. Research investigating the regulation of TFRC upon ferroptosis induction has produced conflicting results. Wang *et al.* reported reduced TFRC expression following erastin treatment⁹⁹. Such results are consistent with an appropriate cellular response, wherein IRPs sense a relative cellular iron overload and decrease mRNA binding to reduce TFRC expression and subsequently cellular iron uptake. Conversely, however, Alvarez *et al.* reported an increase in TFRC expression following erastin treatment¹⁰⁰. The authors speculated that the increase in TFRC expression resulted from a decrease in Fe-S biogenesis/stability and a subsequent increase in IRP1 RNA binding activity. Nonetheless, neither IRP1 nor IRP2 expression or activity were assessed in either of these studies. The inconsistency between observations of TFRC responsiveness between these studies, and ours, is likely due to the vast differences in experimental models. Nonetheless, our findings have enhanced the current knowledge of the field

by demonstrating that iron availability during ferroptosis can be mediated via IRP-independent mechanisms.

The most interesting of our findings in the present study were the TP53-dependent differences in response to ferroptosis. TP53, "the guardian of the genome", is responsible for regulation of energy metabolism, autophagy, angiogenesis, and iron homeostasis^{9,10,89}. TP53 increases ferritin expression and promotes iron storage decreasing the availability of iron to become reactive⁹¹. Wild-type TP53 has also been previously reported to be protective against ferroptotic cell death¹⁴. However, TP53 is highly subject to genetic mutations, and when TP53 in mutated there is not only a loss of wild-type function but there is an acquisition of oncogenic properties^{16,19,86}. No matter the mutation types, TP53 wild-type functions are impaired¹⁹. In this study, we have demonstrated that ferroptosis induction is a viable approach for the chemotherapeutic targeting of tumor cells expressing distinct TP53 types. Our findings are strengthened examining the most prevalent TP53 mutations that represent exemplary models of both contact and conformational mutants.

As these mutation types represent some of the most prevalent TP53 mutations in human tumors, these findings are relevant to a variety of clinically important cancers¹⁶.

REFERENCES

- 1. Manz DH, Blanchette NL, Paul BT, Torti FM, Torti SV. Iron and cancer: recent insights. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2016;1368(1):149-161.
- 2. Torti SV, Torti FM. Iron and cancer: more ore to be mined. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2013;13(5):342-355.
- 3. Eisenstein RS. Irom Regulatory Proteins and the Molecular Control of Mammalian Irom Metabolism. *Annual Review of Nutrition*. 2000;20(1):627-662.
- 4. Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU, Galy B, Camaschella C. Two to Tango: Regulation of Mammalian Iron Metabolism. *Cell*. 2010;142(1):24-38.
- 5. Wang W, Deng Z, Hatcher H, et al. IRP2 regulates breast tumor growth. *Cancer Res.* 2014;74(2):497-507.
- 6. Greene CJ, Attwood K, Sharma NJ, et al. Transferrin receptor 1 upregulation in primary tumor and downregulation in benign kidney is associated with progression and mortality in renal cell carcinoma patients. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(63):107052-107075.
- Chen G, Fillebeen C, Wang J, Pantopoulos K. Overexpression of iron regulatory protein 1 suppresses growth of tumor xenografts. *Carcinogenesis*. 2007;28(4):785-791.
- 8. Maffettone C, Chen G, Drozdov I, Ouzounis C, Pantopoulos K. Tumorigenic Properties of Iron Regulatory Protein 2 (IRP2) Mediated by Its Specific 73-Amino Acids Insert. *PLOS ONE*. 2010;5(4):e10163.
- 9. Shen J, Sheng X, Chang Z, et al. Iron metabolism regulates p53 signaling through direct heme-p53 interaction and modulation of p53 localization, stability, and function. *Cell Rep.* 2014;7(1):180-193.
- 10. Puzio-Kuter AM. The Role of p53 in Metabolic Regulation. *Genes Cancer*. 2011;2(4):385-391.
- 11. Funauchi Y, Tanikawa C, Yi Lo PH, et al. Regulation of iron homeostasis by the p53-ISCU pathway. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5:16497.
- 12. Lu B, Chen XB, Ying MD, He QJ, Cao J, Yang B. The Role of Ferroptosis in Cancer Development and Treatment Response. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:992.
- 13. Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X. Glutaminolysis and Transferrin Regulate Ferroptosis. *Molecular Cell*. 2015;59(2):298-308.
- 14. Tarangelo A, Magtanong L, Bieging-Rolett KT, et al. p53 Suppresses Metabolic Stress-Induced Ferroptosis in Cancer Cells. *Cell Rep.* 2018;22(3):569-575.
- 15. Kato S, Han S-Y, Liu W, et al. Understanding the function–structure and function–mutation relationships of p53 tumor suppressor protein by high-

resolution missense mutation analysis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 2003;100(14):8424.

- 16. Yue X, Zhao Y, Xu Y, Zheng M, Feng Z, Hu W. Mutant p53 in Cancer: Accumulation, Gain-of-Function, and Therapy. *Journal of Molecular Biology*. 2017;429(11):1595-1606.
- Eldar A, Rozenberg H, Diskin-Posner Y, Rohs R, Shakked Z. Structural studies of p53 inactivation by DNA-contact mutations and its rescue by suppressor mutations via alternative protein-DNA interactions. *Nucleic acids research*. 2013;41(18):8748-8759.
- 18. Bullock AN, Henckel J, Fersht AR. Quantitative analysis of residual folding and DNA binding in mutant p53 core domain: definition of mutant states for rescue in cancer therapy. *Oncogene*. 2000;19:1245.
- 19. Freed-Pastor WA, Prives C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev.* 2012;26(12):1268-1286.
- 20. Nelson RL, Davis FG, Persky V, Becker E. Risk of neoplastic and other diseases among people with heterozygosity for hereditary hemochromatosis. *Cancer*. 1995;76(5):875-879.
- 21. Fonseca-Nunes A, Jakszyn P, Agudo A. Iron and Cancer Risk—A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & amp; Prevention.* 2014;23(1):12.
- 22. Nelson R. Iron and colorectal risk: Human Studies. *Nutrition Reviews*. 2001;59(5):140-148.
- 23. Mainous AG, Gill JM, Everett CJ. Transferrin saturation, dietary iron intake, and risk of cancer. *Annals of family medicine*. 2005;3(2):131.
- 24. Stevens RG, Graubard BI, Micozzi MS, Neriishi K, Blumberg BS. Moderate elevation of body iron level and increased risk of cancer occurrence and death. *International journal of cancer*. 1994;56(3):364-369.
- 25. Zacharski LR, Chow BK, Howes PS, et al. Decreased Cancer Risk After Iron Reduction in Patients With Peripheral Arterial Disease: Results From a Randomized Trial. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*. 2008;100(14):996-1002.
- 26. Walter PB, Knutson MD, Paler-Martinez A, et al. Iron deficiency and iron excess damage mitochondria and mitochondrial DNA in rats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2002;99(4):2264-2269.
- 27. Le NT, Richardson DR. The role of iron in cell cycle progression and the proliferation of neoplastic cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2002;1603(1):31-46.
- 28. Ballesteros C, Geary JF, Mackenzie CD, Geary TG. Characterization of Divalent Metal Transporter 1 (DMT1) in Brugia malayi suggests an intestinal-associated

pathway for iron absorption. *International Journal for Parasitology: Drugs and Drug Resistance*. 2018;8(2):341-349.

- 29. Fuqua BK, Lu Y, Frazer DM, et al. Severe Iron Metabolism Defects in Mice With Double Knockout of the Multicopper Ferroxidases Hephaestin and Ceruloplasmin. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology*. 2018;6(4):405-427.
- 30. Ponka P, Lok CN. The transferrin receptor: role in health and disease. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*. 1999;31(10):1111-1137.
- 31. Muckenthaler MU, Rivella S, Hentze MW, Galy B. A Red Carpet for Iron Metabolism. *Cell*. 2017;168(3):344-361.
- 32. Holmes-Hampton GP, Ghosh MC, Rouault TA. Chapter Five Methods for Studying Iron Regulatory Protein 1: An Important Protein in Human Iron Metabolism. In: David SS, ed. *Methods in Enzymology*. Vol 599. Academic Press; 2018:139-155.
- 33. Wang J, Chen G, Filebeen C, Pantopoulos K. Insights on regulation and function of the iron regulatory protein 1 (IRP1). *Hemoglobin*. 2008;32(1-2):109-115.
- 34. Wang J, Fillebeen C, Chen G, Biederbick A, Lill R, Pantopoulos K. Iron-Dependent Degradation of Apo-IRP1 by the Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2007;27(7):2423.
- 35. Wang J, Chen G, Muckenthaler M, Galy B, Hentze MW, Pantopoulos K. Iron-Mediated Degradation of IRP2, an Unexpected Pathway Involving a 2-Oxoglutarate-Dependent Oxygenase Activity. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2004;24(3):954.
- 36. Hanson ES, Foot LM, Leibold EA. Hypoxia post-translationally activates ironregulatory protein 2. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274(8):5047-5052.
- 37. Salahudeen AA, Thompson JW, Ruiz JC, et al. An E3 ligase possessing an ironresponsive hemerythrin domain is a regulator of iron homeostasis. *Science*. 2009;326(5953):722-726.
- 38. Vashisht AA, Zumbrennen KB, Huang X, et al. Control of iron homeostasis by an iron-regulated ubiquitin ligase. *Science*. 2009;326(5953):718-721.
- 39. Wallander ML, Leibold EA, Eisenstein RS. Molecular control of vertebrate iron homeostasis by iron regulatory proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Molecular Cell Research*. 2006;1763(7):668-689.
- 40. Schalinske KL, Eisenstein RS. Phosphorylation and activation of both iron regulatory proteins 1 and 2 in HL-60 cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271(12):7168-7176.
- 41. Fillebeen C, Pantopoulos K, Chen G, Wang J. Overexpression of iron regulatory protein 1 suppresses growth of tumor xenografts. *Carcinogenesis*. 2007;28(4):785-791.

- 42. Rossiello R, Carriero MV, Giordano GG. Distribution of ferritin, transferrin and lactoferrin in breast carcinoma tissue. *Journal of clinical pathology*. 1984;37(1):51-55.
- 43. Seymour GJ, Walsh MD, Lavin MF, Strutton G, Gardiner RA. Transferrin receptor expression by human bladder transitional cell carcinomas. *Urological research*. 1987;15(6):341-344.
- 44. Daniels TR, Bernabeu E, Rodriguez JA, et al. The transferrin receptor and the targeted delivery of therapeutic agents against cancer. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2012;1820(3):291-317.
- 45. Habashy HO, Powe DG, Staka CM, et al. Transferrin receptor (CD71) is a marker of poor prognosis in breast cancer and can predict response to tamoxifen. *Breast cancer research and treatment*. 2010;119(2):283-293.
- 46. Ryschich E, Huszty G, Knaebel HP, Hartel M, Buchler MW, Schmidt J. Transferrin receptor is a marker of malignant phenotype in human pancreatic cancer and in neuroendocrine carcinoma of the pancreas. *European journal of cancer (Oxford, England : 1990).* 2004;40(9):1418-1422.
- 47. Shen X, Zhu HF, He FR, et al. An anti-transferrin receptor antibody enhanced the growth inhibitory effects of chemotherapeutic drugs on human non-hematopoietic tumor cells. *International immunopharmacology*. 2008;8(13-14):1813-1820.
- 48. Shpyleva SI, Tryndyak VP, Kovalchuk O, et al. Role of ferritin alterations in human breast cancer cells. *Breast cancer research and treatment*. 2011;126(1):63-71.
- 49. Zhang F, Wang W, Tsuji Y, Torti SV, Torti FM. Post-transcriptional modulation of iron homeostasis during p53-dependent growth arrest. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283(49):33911-33918.
- 50. Kakhlon O, Gruenbaum Y, Cabantchik ZI. Ferritin expression modulates cell cycle dynamics and cell responsiveness to H-ras-induced growth via expansion of the labile iron pool. *The Biochemical journal*. 2002;363(Pt 3):431-436.
- Liu X, Madhankumar AB, Slagle-Webb B, Sheehan JM, Surguladze N, Connor JR. Heavy chain ferritin siRNA delivered by cationic liposomes increases sensitivity of cancer cells to chemotherapeutic agents. *Cancer Res.* 2011;71(6):2240-2249.
- 52. Pinnix ZK, Miller LD, Wang W, et al. Ferroportin and Iron Regulation in Breast Cancer Progression and Prognosis. *Science Translational Medicine*. 2010;2(43):43ra56.
- 53. Miller LD, Coffman LG, Chou JW, et al. An iron regulatory gene signature predicts outcome in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2011;71(21):6728-6737.
- 54. Levine AJ, Oren M. The first 30 years of p53: growing ever more complex. *Nature Reviews Cancer.* 2009;9:749.
- 55. Lane DP, Crawford LV. T antigen is bound to a host protein in SY40-transformed cells. *Nature*. 1979;278(5701):261-263.

- 56. Pearson ADJ, Craft AW, Ratcliffe JM, Birch JM, Morris-Jones P, Roberts DF. Two families with the Li-Fraumeni cancer family syndrome. *Journal of Medical Genetics*. 1982;19(5):362.
- 57. Srivastava S, Zou Z, Pirollo K, Blattner W, Chang EH. Germ-line transmission of a mutated p53 gene in a cancer-prone family with Li–Fraumeni syndrome. *Nature*. 1990;348(6303):747-749.
- 58. Palmiter RD, Brinster RL. Germ-line transformation of mice *Annual Review of Genetics*. 1986;20(1):465-499.
- 59. Rivlin N, Brosh R, Oren M, Rotter V. Mutations in the p53 Tumor Suppressor Gene: Important Milestones at the Various Steps of Tumorigenesis. *Genes & cancer*. 2011;2(4):466-474.
- 60. Riley T, Sontag E, Chen P, Levine A. Transcriptional control of human p53regulated genes. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*. 2008;9:402.
- 61. Haupt Y, Maya R, Kazaz A, Oren M. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature*. 1997;387(6630):296-299.
- 62. Levine AJ. p53, the Cellular Gatekeeper for Growth and Division. *Cell*. 1997;88(3):323-331.
- An WG, Kanekal M, Simon MC, Maltepe E, Blagosklonny MV, Neckers LM. Stabilization of wild-type p53 by hypoxia-inducible factor 1α. *Nature*. 1998;392(6674):405-408.
- 64. Sheftel A, Stehling O, Lill R. Iron-sulfur proteins in health and disease. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM.* 2010;21(5):302-314.
- 65. Zhang Y, Qian Y, Zhang J, et al. Ferredoxin reductase is critical for p53dependent tumor suppression via iron regulatory protein 2. *Genes Dev.* 2017;31(12):1243-1256.
- 66. What kinds of gene mutations are possible? . NIH Genetic Home Reference Web site. <u>https://ghr.nlm.nih.gov/primer/mutationsanddisorders/possiblemutations</u>. Published 2019. Updated April 2019. Accessed May 11th 2019.
- 67. Chan SH, Lim WK, Ishak NDB, et al. Germline Mutations in Cancer Predisposition Genes are Frequent in Sporadic Sarcomas. *Scientific Reports*. 2017;7(1):10660.
- 68. Bouaoun L SD, Ardin M, Hollstein M, Byrnes G, Zavadil J, Olivier M. P53 Variations in Human Cancers: New Lessons from the IARC TP53 Database and Genomics Data. *Hum Mutat.* 2016.
- 69. Shetzer Y, Molchadsky A, Rotter V. Oncogenic Mutant p53 Gain of Function Nourishes the Vicious Cycle of Tumor Development and Cancer Stem-Cell Formation. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*. 2016;6(10).
- 70. Muller PA, Caswell PT, Doyle B, et al. Mutant p53 drives invasion by promoting integrin recycling. *Cell*. 2009;139(7):1327-1341.
- 71. Zhang C, Liu J, Liang Y, et al. Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nature communications*. 2013;4:2935.

- 72. Ventura A, Kirsch DG, McLaughlin ME, et al. Restoration of p53 function leads to tumour regression in vivo. *Nature*. 2007;445:661.
- 73. Bykov VJN, Eriksson SE, Bianchi J, Wiman KG. Targeting mutant p53 for efficient cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2018;18(2):89-102.
- 74. Hientz K, Mohr A, Bhakta-Guha D, Efferth T. The role of p53 in cancer drug resistance and targeted chemotherapy. *Oncotarget*. 2016;8(5):8921-8946.
- Stockwell BR, Friedmann Angeli JP, Bayir H, et al. Ferroptosis: A Regulated Cell Death Nexus Linking Metabolism, Redox Biology, and Disease. *Cell*. 2017;171(2):273-285.
- 76. Friedmann Angeli JP, Schneider M, Proneth B, et al. Inactivation of the ferroptosis regulator Gpx4 triggers acute renal failure in mice. *Nature Cell Biology*. 2014;16:1180.
- 77. Yang Wan S, SriRamaratnam R, Welsch Matthew E, et al. Regulation of Ferroptotic Cancer Cell Death by GPX4. *Cell.* 2014;156(1):317-331.
- 78. Dixon Scott J, Lemberg Kathryn M, Lamprecht Michael R, et al. Ferroptosis: An Iron-Dependent Form of Nonapoptotic Cell Death. *Cell*. 2012;149(5):1060-1072.
- 79. Xie Y, Zhu S, Song X, et al. The Tumor Suppressor p53 Limits Ferroptosis by Blocking DPP4 Activity. *Cell Reports*. 2017;20(7):1692-1704.
- 80. Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature methods*. 2012;9(7):671-675.
- Davis MR, Shawron KM, Rendina E, et al. Hypoxia inducible factor-2 α is translationally repressed in response to dietary iron deficiency in Sprague-Dawley rats. J Nutr. 2011;141(9):1590-1596.
- 82. Deck KM, Vasanthakumar A, Anderson SA, et al. Evidence that phosphorylation of iron regulatory protein 1 at Serine 138 destabilizes the [4Fe-4S] cluster in cytosolic aconitase by enhancing 4Fe-3Fe cycling. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2009;284(19):12701-12709.
- 83. Jiang L, Kon N, Li T, et al. Ferroptosis as a p53-mediated activity during tumour suppression. *Nature*. 2015;520(7545):57-62.
- 84. Wang SJ, Li D, Ou Y, et al. Acetylation Is Crucial for p53-Mediated Ferroptosis and Tumor Suppression. *Cell Rep.* 2016;17(2):366-373.
- 85. Jennis M, Kung CP, Basu S, et al. An African-specific polymorphism in the TP53 gene impairs p53 tumor suppressor function in a mouse model. *Genes Dev.* 2016;30(8):918-930.
- 86. Di Agostino S, Strano S, Emiliozzi V, et al. Gain of function of mutant p53: the mutant p53/NF-Y protein complex reveals an aberrant transcriptional mechanism of cell cycle regulation. *Cancer Cell*. 2006;10(3):191-202.
- 87. Liu K, Ling S, Lin WC. TopBP1 mediates mutant p53 gain of function through NF-Y and p63/p73. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2011;31(22):4464-4481.
- 88. Stambolsky P, Tabach Y, Fontemaggi G, et al. Modulation of the vitamin D3 response by cancer-associated mutant p53. *Cancer Cell.* 2010;17(3):273-285.

- 89. Clarke SL, Thompson LR, Dandekar E, Srinivasan A, Montgomery MR. Distinct TP53 Mutation Subtypes Differentially Influence Cellular Iron Metabolism. *Nutrients*. 2019;11(9):2144.
- 90. Latunde-Dada GO. Ferroptosis: Role of lipid peroxidation, iron and ferritinophagy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects*. 2017;1861(8):1893-1900.
- 91. Hou W, Xie Y, Song X, et al. Autophagy promotes ferroptosis by degradation of ferritin. *Autophagy*. 2016;12(8):1425-1428.
- 92. Dixon SJ, Patel DN, Welsch M, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of cystineglutamate exchange induces endoplasmic reticulum stress and ferroptosis. *Elife*. 2014;3:e02523.
- 93. Koppula P, Zhang Y, Zhuang L, Gan B. Amino acid transporter SLC7A11/ xCT at the crossroads of regulating redox homeostasis and nutrient dependency of cancer. *Cancer communications*
- 2018.
- 94. Du K, Oh SH, Sun T, Yang W-H, Chi J-TA, Diehl AM. Inhibiting xCT/SLC7A11 induces ferroptosis of myofibroblastic hepatic stellate cells and protects against liver fibrosis. *bioRxiv*. 2019:2019.2012.2023.886259.
- 95. Zhang J, Chen X. p53 tumor suppressor and iron homeostasis. *FEBS J.* 2018.
- 96. Huo H, Zhou Z, Qin J, Liu W, Wang B, Gu Y. Erastin Disrupts Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (mPTP) and Induces Apoptotic Death of Colorectal Cancer Cells. *PLoS One.* 2016;11(5):e0154605.
- 97. Zhang Y, Tan H, Daniels JD, et al. Imidazole Ketone Erastin Induces Ferroptosis and Slows Tumor Growth in a Mouse Lymphoma Model. *Cell Chem Biol.* 2019;26(5):623-633.e629.
- 98. Gao M, Monian P, Quadri N, Ramasamy R, Jiang X. Glutaminolysis and Transferrin Regulate Ferroptosis. *Mol Cell*. 2015;59(2):298-308.
- 99. Wang YQ, Chang SY, Wu Q, et al. The Protective Role of Mitochondrial Ferritin on Erastin-Induced Ferroptosis. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2016;8:308.
- Alvarez SW, Sviderskiy VO, Terzi EM, et al. NFS1 undergoes positive selection in lung tumours and protects cells from ferroptosis. *Nature*. 2017;551(7682):639-643.

VITA

Laurie Renee Thompson

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: IMPACT OF FERROPTOSIS INDUCTION ON IRON METABOLISM IN CANCER CELLS HARBORING TP53 MUTATIONS HERE IN ALL CAPS

Major Field: Nutritional Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2020.

Obtained Bachelor of Science in Nutritional Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK/United States in 2018.

Experience: Graduate Research Assistant Graduate Teaching Assistant

Professional Memberships: Oklahoma Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics